Dear Author,

Please, note that changes made to the HTML content will be added to the article before publication, but are not reflected in this PDF.

Note also that this file should not be used for submitting corrections.

BRAIN RESEARCH I (IIII) III-III



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect

www.elsevier.com/locate/brainres



Review

Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission **

o1 Humberto Salgado Burgos^{a,1}, Mario Treviño Villegas^{b,1}, Marco Atzori^{c,*,2}

^aUniversidad Autónoma de Yucatán, Mexico

^bUniversidad de Guadalajara, Mexico

^cUniversidad Autónoma de San Luis Potosí, Mexico

ARTICLE INFO

Article history:

Accepted 20 January 2016

Keywords:

Adrenergic modulation Glutamatergic system GABAergic system Neocortex Sensory-motor integration Stress

ABSTRACT

The cerebral cortex is a critical target of the central noradrenergic system. The importance of norepinephrine (NE) in the regulation of cortical activity is underscored by clinical findings that involve this catecholamine and its receptor subtypes in the regulation of a large number of emotional and cognitive functions and illnesses. In this review, we highlight diverse effects of the LC/NE system in the mammalian cortex. Indeed, electrophysiological, pharmacological, and behavioral studies in the last few decades reveal that NE elicits a mixed repertoire of excitatory, inhibitory, and biphasic effects on the firing activity and transmitter release of cortical neurons.

At the intrinsic cellular level, NE can produce a series of effects similar to those elicited by other monoamines or acetylcholine, associated with systemic arousal. At the synaptic level, NE induces numerous acute changes in synaptic function, and 'gates' the induction of long-term plasticity of glutamatergic synapses, consisting in an enhancement of engaged and relevant cortical synapses and/or depression of unengaged synapses. Equally important in shaping cortical function, in many cortical areas NE promotes a characteristic, most often reversible, increase in the gain of local inhibitory synapses, whose extent

Abbreviations: α -AR, alpha adrenoceptor; β -AR, beta adrenoceptor; ACC, anterior cingulate cortex; ACh, acetylcholine; AHP, after hyper polarization current; AMPA, amino propionic acid; AMPAR, amino propionic acid sensitive receptor; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; CaMKII, Calcium calmodulin kinase type 2; CNS, Central Nervous System; CREB, cAMP Response Element Binding protein; GABA, γ amino-butyric acid; GABAAR, GABA receptor type A; GluR, glutamate receptor; GTP, guanosine 3-phosphate; G-protein, GTP-binding protein; HCN, hyperpolarization activated cyclic nucleotide gated (cation channel); HPA, Hypothalamus-Pituitary-Adrenal gland (axis); LC, Locus Ceruleus; LTD, long-term depression; LTP, long-term potentiation; mPFC, medial PFC; NE, norepinephrine; NMDA, N-methyl D aspartate; NMDAR, NMDA receptor; OFC, orbitofrontal cortex; PFC, prefrontal cortex; PLC, phospholipase C; PKA, protein kinase A; PKC, protein kinase C; PFC, Prefrontal cortex; PLC, phospholipase C; sAHP, slow AHP; S/N, signal-to-noise ratio; STDP, spike-time dependent plasticity; TREK, two-pore domain K+ (channel)

*Brain Research Issue on "New Evidence for Heterogeneous Organization and Actions of the Central Noradrenergic Transmitter System".

*Correspondence to: Universidad Autónoma de San Luis Potosí, Facultad de Ciencias/Laboratorio de Neurobiología del Estrés Avenida Salvador Nava Martínez s/n, San Luis Potosí, SLP 78290, Mexico.

 $\hbox{$E$-mail addresses: $marco.atzori@uaslp.mx, $marco_atzori@hotmail.com (M. Atzori).}$

¹These two authors contributed equally to the manuscript.

²University of Texas at Dallas, School of Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 800 Campbell Road, Richardson, TX 75080, USA.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

0006-8993/© 2016 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

and temporal properties vary between different areas and sometimes even between cortical layers of the same area.

While we are still a long way from a comprehensive theory of the function of the LC/NE system, its cellular, synaptic, and plastic effects are consistent with the hypothesis that noradrenergic modulation is critical in coordinating the activity of cortical and subcortical circuits for the integration of sensory activity and working memory.

This article is part of a Special Issue entitled SI: Noradrenergic System.

© 2016 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	
	1.1.	General properties	
	1.2.	The Locus Ceruleus–Cortical axis	
	1.3.	Adrenergic receptors	
2.	Acut	e noradrenergic modulation	
	2.1.	Intrinsic properties	
	2.2.	Synaptic effects: glutamate currents	
	2.3.	Synaptic effects: modulation of the cortical GABA signaling	
	2.4.	In vivo studies: sensory cortices	
	2.5.	In vivo studies: prefrontal cortex	
	2.6.	In vivo studies: anesthesia	
3.	Long	term effects of noradrenergic modulation	
	3.1.	Adrenergic gating of cortical LTD and LTP	
	3.2.	Different roles for α_1 and β adrenoceptors in long-term synaptic plasticity	
	3.3.	Functional implications of the dual regulation of long-term synaptic plasticity	
4.	Conc	lusions	
	4.1.	Conclusions	
	4.2.	Future directions9	
	4.3.	Theoretical models	
	4.4.	Clinical relevance and expectations	
Acl	knowl	edgments	
References			

1. Introduction

1.1. General properties

The biogenic amine norepinephrine (NE, or noradrenaline) has long been identified as having an important role in shifting the mammalian organism from a relaxed or dormant condition to a responsive, excited and alerted state. The effects of NE appear to vary depending on the brain area, layer, cell type, and even on the timing and duration of its presence in the extracellular space in the brain.

NE is synthesized in the CNS almost exclusively in a set of brainstem melanin-containing nuclei denominated collectively Locus Ceruleus (LC) (Descarries and Droz, 1970) and adjacent structures (Robertson et al., 2013), with extensive diffuse ascending and descending projections to virtually all the central nervous system (CNS), including the entire neocortex (Aston-Jones, 2005). This system exerts a crucial role in the circadian regulation of alertness, arousal, and overall performance (Aston-Jones et al., 2001). While LC inactivity is associated with thalamo-cortical

oscillations and sleep (Rajkowski et al., 1994), LC activity and the consequent presence of a cortical and thalamic'adrenergic tone' is characteristic of wakefulness (Aston-Jones, 2005). Within the wakefulness state, two modes of activity of the LC cells are discernible: a "phasic" and a "tonic" mode. Among other properties, phasic LC activity is related to stimulus salience (Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981), and/or to the outcome of decision processes in tasks that require selective attention, whereas the tonic mode appears to be related to the search of alternative strategies during a behavioral disengagement caused by persistent failure to receive an expected reward (Aston-Jones and Cohen 2005a). In this review we will summarize the experimental evidence revealing similarities and differences of the short- and long-term cellular and synaptic effects of NE on neocortical circuits.

1.2. The Locus Ceruleus-Cortical axis

The neocortex is a major recipient of LC ascending axonal branches, together with numerous other CNS areas including the amygdala, the thalamus, the hippocampus, the

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

hypothalamus, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, the colliculi, and the cerebellum (Simpson and S, 2007). Together with the neuroendocrine hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenergic gland (HPA) axis, the LC is part of the mammalian stress response system. As a global neurotransmitter system, its activity seems to be coordinated with the activity of other global modulators in a still largely unexplored fashion. Such coordinated responses have been related to arousal and attentional processes (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005a). Besides this function, it has been shown that NE also modulates a diverse set of central activities spanning from working memory to decision making (Armsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1985; Armsten and Jentsch, 1997; Young et al., 2006), and from executive functions to sensory processing (Arnsten et al., 1988; Arnsten and Contant, 1992; Aston-Jones et al., 1992). The LC-NE system has recently been proposed to act as a switch in CNS circuits employing different energy levels in goal-oriented activity (Bouret and Richmond, 2015; Hofmeister and Sterpenich, 2015). While the exact mechanisms used by the noradrenergic system to accomplish these diverse functions are far from being completely understood, the biologic and systemic relevance of the noradrenergic system modulation is clearly evidenced by clinical data suggesting that even modest changes in noradrenergic function-induced by pharmacology, anesthesia, or other means (e.g. electrical stimulation of ascending branches of autonomic nerves)-dramatically affect behavior and systemic 'well-being'.

Both cortical and sub-cortical regions are densely innervated by noradrenergic inputs. Some non-cortical areas (amygdala, hypothalamus, brainstem, cerebellum and midbrain) display a high density of adrenoceptors (Papay et al., 2006) and are importantly involved in a large group of noradrenergic-mediated behavioral responses (Kaneko et al., 2008). The integrity of the cortical branch of the noradrenergic system appears, however, to be a determinant of pathophysiology and behavior, as important as subcortical noradrenergic innervation. Evidence supporting the relevance of the cortical branch of the noradrenergic system in the modulation of cortical activity includes pharmacological/clinical data, the presence of cortical effective concentrations of NE measured with microdialysis (van Veldhuizen et al., 1994; Chiti and Teschemacher, 2007), and the sheer anatomical extent of the cortical noradrenergic innervation to the neocortex (Freedman et al., 1975; Gatter and Powell, 1977; Jones and Moore, 1977; Jones et al., 1977; Waterhouse et al., 1983).

1.3. Adrenergic receptors

The seminal pharmacological work of Ahlquist on the effects of sympathomimetic compounds led to the classification of adrenoceptors into the α and β families that is still valid to date (Ahlquist, 1948). The discovery of guanosine 3-phosphate (GTP)-binding proteins (G-proteins) further split the α adrenoceptor family into the α_1 and α_2 subfamilies, which in turn reclassified adrenoceptors into three receptor families activating different intracellular cascades: 1) α_1 adrenoceptors (α_1 -ARs), activating the phospholipid metabolisms, leading to the activation of phospholipase C (PLC) and, eventually, of the serine–threonine protein kinase C (PKC) and phospholipid metabolism through G-proteins type $G_{q/11}$,

2) α_2 adrenoceptors ($\alpha_2\text{-}ARs)$, which inhibit the production of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) by binding to membrane-bound adenylyl cyclase through G_i , and 3) three families of β adrenoceptors ($\beta\text{-}ARs$), each promoting the elevation of cAMP levels by activating a stimulatory G-protein G_s .

The three families of adrenoceptors differ in affinity for NE, their endogenous ligand. α_2 -ARs have the highest affinity, of the order of tens of nanomolar (nM), α_1 -ARs have an intermediate affinity (around 300 nM), while β -ARs have the lowest affinity for NE (almost in the μ M range, reviewed in (Ramos and Arnsten, 2007). Different families and clones of the same set of adrenoceptors are present and functional throughout the CNS, including in the neocortex. As early recognized by Ahlquist in the peripheral system, different expression levels of the same type of ARs are associated with different physiological functions, based on diverse cellular properties triggered by similar molecular cascades in specific areas throughout the CNS.

2. Acute noradrenergic modulation

The LC/NE system performs its global function by directly modulating intrinsic neuronal function, and by altering the communication between pairs of neurons by changing – transiently or permanently – the weight of synaptic transmission.

2.1. Intrinsic properties

K+ channels are a well-known target for noradrenergic modulation. Among them, TREK-2 channels (a two-pore cationic, with high K^+ permeability) are activated by α_2 adrenoceptors, reducing glutamate release in the entorhinal cortex (Xiao et al., 2009). Similarly, the cationic hyperpolarization-activated current Ih is also enhanced by NE in the forebrain (McCormick et al., 1991). In other studies NE induces a reduction in principal (pyramidal) cells K+ currents, similar to the effects of a number of lightmolecular weight neurotransmitters including acetylcholine (Krnjević et al., 1971; Krnjevic, 1993), dopamine (Pedarzani and Storm, 1995), serotonin (Segal, 1999) and histamine (Martín et al., 2001), as found in seminal studies in the hippocampus and later confirmed to be also present across different cortical areas. Among the K+ currents inhibited by NE are the I_A and the slow after hyper-polarization current (sAHP) (Madison and Nicoll, 1982; Foehring et al., 1989; McCormick et al., 1991, 1993; McCormick, 1993). A prominent consequence of the elevation of NE levels is thus an increase in spontaneous firing accompanied by a decrease in adaptation (defined as the progressive decrease of neuronal firing following a square current injection) either by direct membrane depolarization or by reducing repolarizing currents.

Recently, an additional noradrenergic mechanism associated with a decrease in K^+ conductance modulating synaptic function has been discovered using in vivo patch-clamp recording in primates (Wang et al., 2011). The study found that activation of α_2 -ARs in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) decreases intracellular levels of cAMP, decreasing-in turn-an

intrinsic cellular current mediated by hyperpolarizationactivated cyclic nucleotide-gated (HCN) K+ channels (Wang et al., 2011). Interestingly, a progressive increase in HCN conductance in aging positively correlated with deterioration

in cognitive performance. Accordingly, the use of α_2 agonists was proposed as candidate treatment for age-related impairment in cognitive performance counteracting the effects of

the increase in dendritic shunting inhibition.

Calcium (Ca²⁺) channels are also an important target of noradrenergic modulation for a variety of cellular functions including neurotransmitter release, neuronal intrinsic excitability, and synaptic plasticity. Among the known effects of norepinephrine on Ca^{2+} channels, α_2 -AR activation inhibits glutamate release from isolated cortical nerve terminals trough inhibition of N-type (CaV2.2) and P/Q-type (CaV2.1) Ca²⁺-channels (Chiu et al., 2011), and N-type(CaV2.2) and P/Qtype (CaV2.1) Ca²⁺ currents in acutely dissociated pyramidal neurons from rat sensory motor cortex, presumably to regulate mechanisms sensitive to spiking activity (Timmons et al., 2004). β-AR activation of L-type calcium channels (Kato, 1993) plays also an important role in glutamate synaptic regulation and long-term plasticity. Table 1 summarizes some of the intrinsic neuronal effects produced by activation of NE receptors on Ca²⁺ channels. Differences in noradrenergic modulation of V-gated channels between principal neurons vs. (GABAergic) interneurons have not - to our knowledge - been analyzed systematically. More work will be necessary to complete our knowledge on the effects of noradrenergic modulation of V-gated channels in the brain and in the neocortex in particular. It is worth mentioning that a novel, previously unexplored, avenue of noradrenergic neuronal modulation has been discovered recently, where NE was found to prime glial cells of the visual cortex to respond to sensory activity (Paukert et al., 2014).

2.2. Synaptic effects: glutamate currents

A large number of studies report that glutamatergic transmission mediated through amino propionic acid (AMPA) receptors is decreased - between 30% and 80% - in the presence of NE in a concentration range between 10 and 100 µM. Such NE-induced decrease in AMPAR-mediated currents has been shown in the rodent auditory (Dinh et al., 2009), visual (Kobayashi et al., 2000), and prefrontal cortices (Law-Tho et al., 1993; Ji et al., 2008; Roychowdhury et al., 2014), and is mostly mediated by activation of α_1 -ARs. Unaltered paired pulse ratio and the sensitivity to changes in intracellular environment (pipette solution) suggest that this reduction in excitatory transmission has at least a partial postsynaptic origin (Dinh et al., 2009). It is not clear yet whether this effect is due to a G-protein-mediated phosphorylation-dependent change in the biophysical properties of the AMPAR pore, or to altered rate of insertion/ removal of AMPARs in dendritic spines, perhaps due changes in the anchoring process or in the subunit composition of the receptor (Yuen et al., 2014). In other cortical regions, glutamatergic signaling displays a more complex noradrenergic modulation. For example, 20 µM NE reduces AMPAR-mediated currents in the superficial layers of the enthorhinal cortex (Xiao et al., 2009), but increases them in the hippocampus

proper (Hu et al., 2007). Similarly, 10 µM NE increases AMPARmediated currents in the visual cortex (Huang et al., 2012; Salgado et al., 2012), although in the same preparation a lower NE concentration ($<1 \mu M$), and also the specific activation of α₁-ARs, decreases AMPAR-mediated currents (Salgado et al., 2012).

N-methyl D aspartate receptor (NMDAR) mediated glutamatergic transmission also appears to be depressed in the presence of NE (Law-Tho et al., 1993; Liu et al., 2006) - also through postsynaptic α_1 -AR mediated mechanisms. On the other hand, recordings in visual, prefrontal, and perirhinal cortices, show the application of NE potentiates NMDARmediated excitatory synaptic transmission (Bröcher et al., 1992; Laing and Bashir, 2014), through a β-AR- and cAMPdependent mechanism, and requires concurrent synaptic activation of NMDAR, suggestive of a coordinated action of β-ARs and NMDAR (Bröcher et al., 1992; Laing and Bashir,

These data are consistent with the well-known antiepileptic action of NE (Neuman, 1986; Ferraro et al., 1994; Shouse et al., 1996), and corroborate the hypothesis that NE can produce at the same time a generalized (α_1 -AR-induced) decrease in most AMPAR-mediated glutamate response (in synapses that are not undergoing long-term changes), while also 'priming' neurons – through β - or both β - and α_1 -ARs-into a plastic state that promotes the induction of long term forms of synaptic plasticity. This topic will be discussed more in depth in the next sections dedicated to long-term effects of NE. Table 2 summarizes some of the effects of NE on cortical synaptic transmission.

Synaptic effects: modulation of the cortical GABA 2.3. signaling

Phasic inhibitory cortical synaptic transmission, mostly mediated by γ-amino butyric acid type A receptors (GABAARs), possesses a large range of responses to NE, including decreases, increases, absence of response, as well as bi-phasic responses, in different cortical areas. The expression of α_1 -ARs has been identified in a number of cortical areas with localization in GABAergic interneurons (Papay et al., 2006). Among the physiological effects induced by NE on GABAergic signaling, we found that in the auditory cortex of the rat, NE decreases synaptic GABAergic currents elicited by electrical stimulation of layer 1 onto supragranular layer 2/ 3 pyramidal neurons, with no change in the amplitude of local GABAergic responses to local stimulation of infragranular layer 5 (Roychowdhury et al., 2014), but increasing GABAergic currents elicited within layer 2/3 (Salgado et al., 2011, 2012), with the last effect similar to results described in the enthorhinal cortex (Lei et al., 2007).

Interestingly, in a similar way in which the activation of α_1 or β adrenoceptors induce either a reduction or an increase – respectively - of the excitatory signal at glutamatergic synapses (Kobayashi et al., 2000; Dinh et al., 2009; Salgado et al., 2012), activation of α_1 or β adrenoceptors has a similar effect on inhibitory, GABAAR-mediated transmission. In fact, α₁-AR activation decreases inhibitory transmission (Salgado et al., 2011, 2012), with some exception (Lei et al., 2007), whereas activation of β-ARs elicits an enhancement of

	Table 2 – Effects of the activation of adrenoceptors o reported in each columns (n.a. not available).	activation of adr ins (n.a. not ava	renoceptors on excitatory synapse ailable).	s in differe	n excitatory synapses in different cortical areas. Cortical areas, layers, dose(s) used in the study, effect and referen	ed in the study, effect and referen
-	Effects of NE on excitatory transmission	r transmission				
	Cortical area	Cortical layer	Cortical layer Application/concentration	Receptor effect	effect	Ref.
	Medial prefrontal cortex	IV/VI	Phenylephrine 100 μM	β ₁ -AR	Enhances excitatory synaptic transmission via PKC	Luo et al. (2014)
_	Medial prefrontal cortex	IV/VI	Dobutamine 100 μM	α_1 -AR	Decreases excitatory synaptic transmission via PKC	Luo et al. (2014)
	Prefrontal cortex	Layer V	NE 20 µM	۷.	Reduces excitatory synaptic transmission	Roychowdhury et al. (2014)
	Visual Cortex	Layer II/III	NE 8.75 µM or Isoproterenol 10 µM	β-AR	Enhances excitatory synaptic transmission	Salgado et al., (2012) Kirkwood et al.
	Visual Cortex	Layer II/III	NE 0.33 μM or methoxamine 5 μM	α_1 -AR	Reduces excitatory synaptic transmission	Salgado et al., 2012; Kirkwood et al.,
	Visual Cortex	Layer V	Isoproterenol 100 μM	β-AR	Enhances excitatory synaptic transmission	Kobayashi et al. (2009)
	Visual Cortex	Layer V	Phenyleprhine 100 μΜ	α_1 -AR	Reduces excitatory synaptic transmission	Kobayashi et al. (2009)
_	Auditory cortex	All layers	NE 20 μM or phenylephrine 1 μM		Reduces excitatory synaptic transmission	Dinh et al. (2009)

768

(2014)(2014)able 3 – Effects of the activation of adrenoceptors on inhibitory synapses in different cortical areas. As above, cortical areas, layers, dose(s) used in the study, effect and (2008)Roychowdhury et al. Roychowdhury et al. Kruglikov and Rudy Salgado et al. (2011) Salgado et al. (2011) Salgado et al. (2012) Sessler et al. (1995) Lei et al. (2007) Enhances inhibitory synaptic transmission reduces inhibitory synaptic transmission reduces inhibitory synaptic transmission No effect on GABA release and β-AR α_2 -AR α_1 -AR α_1 -AR β-AR 100 μM or phenylephrine 100 μM $20\,\mu M$ or Isoproterenol $50\,\mu M$ NE 20 μM or clonidine 1 μM NE 20 µM or phenylephrine Application/ concentration Isoproterenol 10-100 μM 10-50 µM of NE 20 μM 20 世世世 Cortical Layer Layer II/III Layer II/III Layer II/III Layer II/III Layer II/III Effects of NE on inhibitory transmission Layer V Layer V Somatosensory cortex somatosensory cortex Entorhinal cortex cortex Prefrontal cortex Auditory cortex erence are Auditory cortex Auditory cortex Cortical area Prefrontal

inhibitory transmission (Sessler et al., 1995; Salgado et al., 2011, 2012). The parallel effects of α_1 - and β -AR activation on excitatory and inhibitory transmission might represent a mechanism to achieve larger synaptic strength while preserving excitation/inhibition synaptic balance.

769

770

771

772

773

774

775

776

777

778

779

780

781

782

783

784

785

786

787

788

789

790

791

792

793

794

795

796

797

798

799

800

801

802

803

804

805

806

807

808

809

810

811

812

813

814

815

816

817

818

819

820

821

822

823

824

825

826

827

828

The rodent agranular prefrontal cortex also displays a complex noradrenergic modulation of inhibitory currents, such that while GABAergic currents evoked by electrical stimulation of local inhibitory axons within layer 2/3 are reduced by $20\,\mu\text{M}$ NE, the same concentration of the monoamine increases GABAergic currents in pyramidal cells of the output layer 5. Interestingly, NE selectively reduces excitatory drive onto GABAergic interneurons in the prefrontal cortex (Wang et al., 2013), suggestive of a negative feedback mechanism to limit a NE-induced increase in inhibition. Table 3 summarizes the effects of NE on GABAergic synaptic transmission.

The inhibition of presynaptic Ca²⁺ currents (Timmons et al., 2004) may play similar roles in the noradrenergicinduced decrease of both glutamatergic and GABAergic currents. On the contrary, the pharmacology and biophysics of adrenoceptor-mediated enhancements in the excitability of local GABAergic neurons (interneurons) (Kawaguchi and Shindou, 1998) are consistent with noradrenergic-induced increases in the intrinsic excitability of GABAergic interneurons, although noradrenergic effects at the level of the GABAergic axon terminal cannot be ruled out. Adrenoceptor activation may be critical in the activation of GABABRmediated signal, as indicated by the GABABR-mediated increase in GABA release monitored in the rat sensorimotor cortex (Bennett et al., 1997, 1998). Besides its functional (short- and long-term) effects on synaptic strength or intrinsic excitability, it is important to note that NE also induces selective trophic effects in the neocortex (prefrontal) promoting the adequate development of the neonatal GABAergic system (Podkletnova et al., 2000).

2.4. In vivo studies: sensory cortices

A combination of the acute effects on intrinsic neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission may explain the variety of responses to NE detected with in vivo preparations and direct sensory stimulation. Similar to cellular effects, remarkable differences in noradrenergic modulation are shown in the areas studied, including mostly different sensory cortices and the PFC. In particular, the decrease in glutamate excitatory response and the enhancement of inhibitory GABAergic responses mentioned in the previous sections may account for a large amount of observations in in vivo preparations in sensory and prefrontal cortices.

A number of studies have been conducted to determine the effect of NE or LC activation on sensory areas to determine the noradrenergic regulation of arousal and sensory input (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003). In the auditory cortex, a combination of short- and long-term effects of NE induces changes in frequency selectivity in response to tones at a frequency previously coupled with NE application (Manunta and Edeline, 2004; Edeline et al., 2011). Such an effect may contribute to the origin and consolidation of sparse encoding of cortical auditory 'engrams' (Edeline, 2012). The effect of NE

890

891

892

893

894

895

896

897

898

899

900

901

902

903

904

905

906

907

908

909

910

911

912

913

914

915

916

917

918

919

920

921

922

923

924

925

926

927

928

929

930

931

932

933

934

935

936

937

938

939

940

941

942

943

944

945

946

947

948

877

878

879

880

881

882

883

884

885

886

887

888

in the visual cortex is particularly puzzling. In fact, an overall inhibitory action on neuronal firing patterns (Ego-Stengel et al., 2002) is not associated with unambiguous improvement of function or increased signal-to-noise ratio as proposed by several authors, for instance for the auditory cortex (Edeline, 2012). Functional MRI data from experiments in humans support the hypothesis that an enhanced noradrenergic tone can improve cortical coordination in visuo- motor tasks (Grefkes et al., 2010).

Dose-dependent effects were detected by several early studies showing that low doses of NE applied to sensory neurons enhance both excitatory and inhibitory synaptic inputs in the auditory and in the somatosensory cortices (Foote et al., 1975; Waterhouse et al., 1980; Kossl and Vater, 1989), whereas intermediate or high doses typically suppress neural activity (Armstrong-James and Fox, 1983). While a mild elevation of NE levels appears to induce mostly an enhancement of cortical excitation, consistent with the phasic activation of LC neurons induced by highly salient and arousing stimuli (Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981; Abercrombie and Jacobs, 1988; Grant et al., 1988; Brun et al., 1993), inhibitory effects induced by higher levels of NE have also been shown on glutamate-evoked neuronal excitation in sensory cortical slices, with an inhibitory influence associate with previous strong PFC activation (Sara and Hervé-Minvielle, 1995). An emerging property of noradrenergic cortical modulation resembles a bell-shaped dependence on the intensity of noradrenergic stimulation. An example of this phenomenon is the firing frequency response to somatosensory stimulation as a function of increasing frequency of a train of pulses delivered to the LC (Devilbiss and Waterhouse, 2004). A bell-shaped dependence on NE levels may explain the results of the administration of methylphenidate - a catecholamine reuptake blocker enhancing the effects of NE (Drouin et al., 2007) - which increases the intensity of the responses to weak stimuli but reduces responses to strong stimuli. An alternative or additional interpretation of these data can be given in terms of a reduction of the dynamic range of somatosensory responses (Drouin et al., 2007).

The interpretation of this large amount of experimental data is complicated further by the large variability in extent and direction of the NE effects between different cortical units even within the same experimental settings. For instance, NE application or LC stimulation may either increase or decrease cortical firing rate of multi-unit recordings in response to sensory stimulation (Waterhouse et al., 1980; Devilbiss and Waterhouse, 2000, 2004; Hurley et al., 2004).

2.5. In vivo studies: prefrontal cortex

LC neurons display tonic and phasic activation modes, the latter associated with a number of PFC functions like behavioral engagement, decision making and task-performance optimization (Usher et al., 1999; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005a, 2005b). Importantly, there is growing evidence that the anatomical connection between LC and the PFC – or at least some parts of it – may be reciprocal (Branchereau et al., 1996), further corroborating the hypothesis that PFC activity may elicit the release of NE. Anatomical data (Morrison et al.,

1982; Porrino and Goldman-Rakic, 1982) as well as in vivo recordings in monkey LC and prefrontal cortices (Jodo et al., 1998) suggest that not only the PFC is a major recipient of noradrenergic modulation, but also that the activation of the PFC stimulates LC activity, resulting in a feed-forward loop of interactions. In particular, two frontal structures, namely the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), play critical roles in evaluating rewards (task related utilities) and costs, respectively (Gold and Chrousos, 2002; Bari and Robbins, 2013a, 2013b; Arnsten and Jin, 2014). The OFC receives input from all sensory cortices, and is activated by rewarding stimuli in various sensory modalities but not by stimulus identification alone, nor by response preparation. Notably, both the OFC and the ACC provide prominent direct or indirect input to LC neurons, and are thought to be crucial to drive the transitions between phasic and tonic modes in the firing activity of LC neurons (Aston-Jones 2005; Aston-Jones and Cohen 2005b). This evidence points to the PFC as a key structure in the regulation of cortical noradrenergic

Nowhere more than in the PFC is the heterogeneity of the effects of NE more evident: the PFC displays differences in noradrenergic effects between sub-regions, by the receptors mediating its action, and by different behavioral states of the subject/animal. For instance, levels of noradrenergic activation that impair attention-set shifting appear to improve stop-signal performance (Newman et al., 2008), whereas, α_2 -AR receptor activation facilitates PFC function in rodents and monkeys. In fact, administration of α_2 -ARs agonists such as clonidine, guanfacine or meditomide improves performance on a variety of PFC-dependent working memory related tasks (Franowicz and Arnsten, 1998), including delay response (Arnsten et al., 1988), and delay alternation (Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1985). The effects are blocked by α_2 ARs antagonists such as yohimbine, which in turn impairs working memory performance (Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1985; Li and Mei, 1994). The activation of β -ARs appears to have little influence on the working memory functions of the prefrontal cortex (Arnsten and Goldman-Rakic, 1985). Thus, application of α_2 -AR, but not β - or α_1 -AR antagonists, produces a delay-related impairment in working memory performance (Li and Mei, 1994). Facilitatory effects on working memory performance by α_2 -ARs are particularly important under high interference or distraction periods, where PFC function is required for optimal performance (Arnsten and Contant, 1992).

A current tenet poses that most acute beneficial effects mediated by NE on executive functions (like attention improvement) are associated with activation of high-affinity pre- or postsynaptic α_2 -ARs (Caetano et al., 2012), while the activation of intermediate affinity PFC α_1 -ARs and/or lower affinity β -ARs (and the related phospholipase C and adenylyl cyclase cascades) would worsen the performance of most executive functions (Ramos and Arnsten, 2007; Arnsten, 2009a, 2009b; Robbins and Arnsten, 2009). This effect could be induced by inactivation of Na⁺ conductance and consequent failure of neuronal firing in the LC. Chemical similarity and shared anatomical projections of dopamine and NE have raised the question of the specificity of their PFC effects. Recent studies on this topic (Chandler et al., 2014) suggest

that in spite of their chemical structure resemblance and partial overlap of their pharmacological effects, NE and dopamine carry out both specific and complementary functions in the PFC.

2.6. In vivo studies: anesthesia

In addition to modulating arousal (Aston-Jones et al., 2001; Aston-Jones, 2005), recent evidence indicates that the LC–NE cortical system can also influence the duration and properties of anesthetic states. For example, LC–NE activation produces a faster behavioral emergence from deep isoflurane anesthesia by acting on β - or α_1 -ARs (Vazey and Aston-Jones, 2014). Accordingly, blocking these receptors potentiated the anesthetic duration when delivered centrally or peripherally. Thus, this finding reveals that different factors including background LC–NE activation or noradrenergic medications may affect the clinical responses to anesthetic agents. Interestingly, an opposite noradrenergic effect is elicited by the α_2 -AR agonist xylazine, commonly added to commercially available anesthetic mixture (ketamine–xylazine).

3. Long term effects of noradrenergic modulation

3.1. Adrenergic gating of cortical LTD and LTP

The idea that neuromodulation contributes to synaptic plasticity by controlling both the magnitude and polarity of change in glutamatergic transmission is not new. As mentioned earlier, an important role for NE in the induction of long-term plasticity has been previously postulated (Bröcher et al., 1992). NE, released in the cortex in response to arousing or novel stimuli (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003), critically influences learning and memory processes by activating different noradrenergic receptor subtypes on cortical circuits, as shown in vivo in different species (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003; Ramos and Arnsten, 2007; Constantinople and Bruno, 2011). Most studies of noradrenergic modulation of long-term plasticity have been conducted in slices from the prefrontal cortex and brain areas known to undergo long-term synaptic changes, like the visual cortex and the hippocampus (Kato et al., 1991; Bröcher et al., 1992; Kirkwood et al., 1999). Bidirectional synaptic plasticity is known to be strongly influenced by NE. Its noradrenergic modulation has been widely studied in the cerebral cortex (Nowicky et al., 1992; Kirkwood et al., 1999; Salgado et al., 2012; Laing and Bashir, 2014).

NE receptor activation has been proposed to influence synaptic plasticity by several putative mechanisms: either by directly modulating NMDARs (induction of long-term potentiation/depression, LTP/D) or-alternatively or in addition-by activating kinases leading eventually to the insertion of AMPA receptors into the postsynaptic membrane ("unsilencing" of "silent" synapses, one of the proposed mechanisms for LTP) (Seol et al., 2007; Perugini et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013). In this regard, several studies show that, in addition to modulating the excitability of cortical neurons (Carr et al., 2007; O'Donnell et al., 2012), NE can lower the threshold for the induction of synaptic

plasticity at excitatory synapses (Seol et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2012; Salgado et al., 2012).

Further evidence that NE participates in gating and expression of long term synaptic plasticity, thereby modulating the activity of the entire cortical circuit comes from the work of Arnsten and collaborators (Arnsten et al., 2012; Huang et al., 2012), indicating that NE has a critical role in gating cortical LTD/P on perceptual learning and memory (Pussinen et al., 1997; Riekkinen et al., 1997; Puumala et al., 1998; Franowicz et al., 2002). Corroborating this hypothesis are in vitro studies utilizing hippocampal slices, showing that NE depletion reduces the capacity to express LTP (Stanton and Sarvey, 1985), whereas the perfusion of NE agonists increases LTP in the cortex and in the hippocampus (Stanton and Sarvey, 1987; Nowicky et al., 1992; Salgado et al., 2012; Laing and Bashir, 2014).

3.2. Different roles for α_1 and β adrenoceptors in long-term synaptic plasticity

 α_1 -ARs in the neocortex have been proposed to activate protein phosphatases (Thomas et al., 1996) linked to the induction of LTD (Lisman, 1989; Mulkey et al., 1993; Bear and Malenka, 1994; Kirkwood et al., 1999) through a low range of NMDA receptor stimulation (Kirkwood et al., 1999). The induction of LTD in the visual cortex requires the activation of the PLC pathway by NMDA receptors (Choi et al., 2005; Treviño et al., 2012). In fact, LTD occurs only when NMDA receptors are activated in conjunction with the activation of PLC via multiple neurotransmitter receptors coupled to G_q proteins. The finding that NE can promote LTD induction of glutamate synaptic transmission in the cortex both in vitro (Choi et al., 2005) and ex vivo (Treviño et al., 2012), as well as in the hippocampus in vitro, suggests that bidirectional regulation of long-term synaptic plasticity might be the single most important function of the cortical noradrenergic system (Kirkwood et al., 1999; Scheiderer et al., 2004).

Further studies corroborate the hypothesis that α_1 -AR agonists selectively enable LTD and suppress LTP (Salgado et al., 2012; Treviño et al., 2012), while β-AR agonist enable LTP and suppress LTD (Huang et al., 2012). In general, the rate of AR activation depends on the concentration of NE and its different affinity for α_1 - and β -ARs (for a review see (Ramos and Arnsten, 2007)). In this respect, our recent experimental results in the visual cortex, obtained by preferentially activating α_1 -AR or β -AR (Salgado et al., 2012) support the notion that NE can simultaneously recruit opposing synaptic plasticity pathways (LTD vs. LTP) in spatially segregated circuits, and that the effects of NE are dose-dependent and receptorspecific. In addition, we found that the evoked excitatory postsynaptic currents in layer II/III pyramidal cells were cosensitive to sequential application of selective α_1 -AR and β -AR agonists, suggesting that both receptors are co-expressed in pyramidal cells in the visual cortex (Salgado et al., 2012). Moreover, a low concentration of NE enables a LTD-only window at broad positive and negative delays, while high concentrations of NE enable bidirectional LTP/LTD with a spike-time dependent plasticity (STDP) protocol within very narrow timing intervals (Salgado et al., 2012).

1130

1131

1132

1133

1134

1135

1136

1137

1138

1139

1140

1141

1142

1143

1144

1145

1146

1147

1148

1149

1150

1151

1152

1153

1154

1155

1156

1157

1158

1159

1160

1161

1162

1163

1164

1165

1166

1167

1168

1169

1170

1171

1172

1173

1174

1175

1176

1177

1178

1179

1180

1181

1182

1183

1184

1185

1186

1187

1188

1117

1128

Altogether, these data delineate an emerging picture for the effect of NE the neocortex, in which a delicate balance between the activation of α_1 -AR and β -AR determines the net modulatory effect induced by NE on cortical circuits. For this reason, β-AR activation gates long-term potentiation associated with the classic adenylyl cyclase-cAMP/PKA, a key regulator of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and the neocortex (Frey et al., 1993). A similar phenomenon is present in subcortical nuclei, where both α_1 and β -adrenoceptors play a critical role in the storage of aversive memories like in the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala (McGaugh et al., 2000; Lazzaro et al., 2010). An important component of LTD/P noradrenergic modulation could be the β-AR-dependent reversible potentiation of NMDA currents, which triggers a postsynaptic synergism associated with PKA activation and increases in intracellular free Ca²⁺ concentration.

Additional or alternative mechanisms could account for the β-AR modulation of LTP (Ji, Cao, et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2012). Early reports attributed the facilitation of LTP to enhanced neural excitability of layer II/III cells (Bröcher et al., 1992). In the case of NMDAR-induced LTP (i.e. LTP induced by adding NMDA to the extracellular medium) (Lee et al., 2000; Malinow and Malenka, 2002), β-ARs induce Ca⁺²calmodulin kinase type II (CaMKII) autophosphorylation, activation of CREB, and altered gene expression to promote LTP and the formation of new memories in response to behaviorally-relevant experiences (Hu et al., 2007; Havekes et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2013).

In conclusion, α_1 -ARs and β -ARs gate both acute and longterm bidirectional synaptic plasticity in the neocortex by producing opposing plastic effects in excitatory synapses in the upper layers of the visual cortex: α₁-ARs by decreasing synaptic strength, while β-ARs by increasing synaptic strength (Nowicky et al., 1992; Kirkwood et al., 1999; Seol et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2012; Laing and Bashir, 2014).

3.3. Functional implications of the dual regulation of longterm synaptic plasticity

As discussed above, in vitro studies indicate that NE can act as a permissive factor for the induction of NMDAR-dependent LTP/LTD. In addition, there seems to be a pattern in the regulation of bidirectional synaptic plasticity such that neurotransmitter receptors linked to Gs proteins stimulate cAMP production and promote LTP, while receptors coupled to G_q proteins stimulate PLC and promote LTD (Seol et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2012; Salgado et al., 2012; Treviño et al., 2012). Consistent with this view, in the visual cortex, NE actions by activation of β-AR may play a critical role in regulating ocular dominance plasticity (Pettigrew and Kasamatsu, 1978; Kasamatsu and Pettigrew, 1979; Bear and Singer, 1986; Imamura and Kasamatsu, 1988; Mataga et al., 1992; Muguruma et al., 1997). Accordingly, β-AR activation is associated with enhancement of LTP in the neocortex (Nowicky et al., 1992) and with memory facilitation (Gibbs and Summers, 2000), while α_1 -AR are linked to LTD (Law-Tho et al., 1993; Kirkwood et al., 1999; Gibbs and Summers, 2000; Scheiderer et al., 2004; Mandal et al., 2010; Marzo et al., 2010; Salgado et al., 2012; Treviño et al., 2012).

We speculate that noradrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission may work in two stages: first, NE would determine currently active brain circuits, participating critically to the selection of the sensory content above neural background noise to be represented in the working memory - possibly through the activation of α -ARs; second, in case of further Q5 reinforcement of their emotional valence, central representations and their associations would be 'solidified' in an activity-dependent manner in long-term stores for future retrieval. This second stage would require activation α_1 - and β-ARs activation, and would follow stronger and/or longer LC activation (Hopkins and Johnston, 1984; Bröcher et al., 1992; Pelletier et al., 1994; Bramham et al., 1997; Katsuki et al., 1997; Izumi and Zorumski, 1999) through still undiscovered activity-dependent mechanism like local modulation of NE release by glutamate and/or GABA (Witkin et al., 2007; Sterley et al., 2013).

Conclusions

4.1. Conclusions

While we are still a long way from having an exhaustive model of central noradrenergic function, current research is consistent with the presence of at least two general noradrenergic central mechanisms. In case of moderate LC activation, one noradrenergic mechanism, spatially widespread, mediated by activation of α_2 - and α_1 -ARs, appears to actively suppress the spread of excitation by decreasing glutamatergic AMPAR-mediated transmission and enhancing GABAARmediated synaptic responses, causing a temporary inhibition of neuronal activity. This scenario is supported by the antiepileptic effect of LC stimulation (Giorgi et al., 2008). In cases of stronger LC activation, a different mechanism-mediated by activation of α_1 - and β -ARs, may locally supersede the former one, by consolidating biologically relevant representations and their associations in long-term stores for future retrieval, following intense and/or prolonged LC activation (Hopkins and Johnston, 1984; Bröcher et al., 1992; Pelletier et al., 1994; Bramham et al., 1997; Katsuki et al., 1997; Izumi and Zorumski, 1999). The two modalities of action would exist simultaneously in different neighboring but functionally segregated circuits, thus contributing to explain the wide diversity of noradrenergic responses detected in in vivo measurements, particularly in sensory areas (Manunta and Edeline, 1998, 1999; Waterhouse et al., 1998; Devilbiss and Waterhouse, 2000).

4.2. **Future directions**

Many gaps remain in our knowledge of the cortical function of norepinephrine, as a comprehensive model of central noradrenergic function is still unavailable. Studies of the correlation between simultaneous neuronal activity in different cortical/brain areas in relationship to LC activation, NE levels, and the activation of different NE receptors have the potential to reveal some of the missing information, perhaps with a combination of novel techniques including electrophysiology, Ca²⁺-imaging, functional magnetic resonance,

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

BRES: 44688

1235 1236 1237

and optogenetics. The contribution of cortical GABAergic neurons to the LC/NE modulation is also an important field of research that researchers are starting to investigate, and that will shed light on the nature of cortical changes induced by NE on cortical micro- and macro-circuit function.

Among many unanswered questions that need to be addressed to advance our understanding of central noradrenergic pathophysiology: Is the release of NE a spatially unitary process across its anatomical targets? If so: Are there a number of brain states corresponding to increasing concentrations of brain NE paralleling the activation of progressively lower affinity ARs (for instance, in the order: α_2 , α_1 , $\alpha_1+\beta$)? If not: what are the spatial patterns of activation of the anatomical targets of the LC/NE system? What are the biological, anatomical, and biochemical factors that determine them? What are the extent and modality of the interaction between the LC/NE system and the other alarm and stress-related systems like the cholinergic, the serotoninergic, and the histaminergic systems? What is the relationship between the temporal increase in NE level, the activation of ARs with different affinity for their ligand, and the function of local neuronal circuits? Does local circuit activity (local release of glutamate and GABA) alter NE release in an activity-dependent manner through modulation of presynaptic receptors on cortical noradrenergic fibers?

4.3. Theoretical models

Computational studies have already supported a role for NE modulation of synaptic weights in the improvement of the signal-to-noise ratio of synaptic transmission (Hasselmo et al., 1997), and in the involvement of synaptic plasticity in decision-making tasks (Eckhoff et al., 2009; Silvetti et al., 2013). While advancements in the understanding of these phenomena will only come from the experimental field, more theoretical, computational, quantitative and qualitative studies will be needed in order to integrate the already large and often difficult-to-interpret amount of pertinent experimental data, perhaps benefitting from the comparatively larger set of computational studies performed on the dominant role of the NE precursor dopamine in decision-making (Doya, 2008; Lew and Tseng, 2014).

4.4. Clinical relevance and expectations

The relevance of the LC/NE system to stress and the related burden of neuropsychiatric disease suggests that an understanding of the function of the brain noradrenergic system will not only yield a better view of the general operation of the brain, but will also lead to substantial advances in clinical and pharmacological tools for illnesses whose current treatments are remarkably unsatisfactory, including, but not limited to schizophrenic psychoses, anxiety disorders, and mood disorders. Accurate information of the interaction between NE and cortical circuits, along with an appreciation of its role in stress will optimize the effectiveness of neuropsychiatric disorders treatments and minimize their potential shortfalls.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported with funds PRODEP103.5/13/ 6575 to M.A., and CONACyT CB-2013-01 221653 to M.A, 168943 to H.S., and 220862, 07384 to M.T.

1249

1250

1251

1252

1253

1254

1255

1256

1257

1258

1259

1260

1261

1262

1263

1264

1265

1266

1267

1268

1269

1270

1271

1272

1273

1274

1275

1276

1277

1278

1279

1280

1281

1282

1283

1284

1285

1286

1287

1288

1289

1290

1291

1292

1293

1294

1295

1296

1297

1298

1299

1300

1301

1302

1303

1304

1305

1306

1307

1308

REFERENCES

- Abercrombie, E.D., Jacobs, B.L., 1988. Systemic naloxone administration potentiates locus coeruleus noradrenergic neuronal activity under stressful but not non-stressful conditions. Brain Res. 441, 362-366.
- Ahlquist, R.P., 1948. A study of the adrenotropic receptors. Am. J. Physiol. 153, 586-600.
- Armstrong-James, M., Fox, K., 1983. Effects of ionophoresed noradrenaline on the spontaneous activity of neurones in rat primary somatosensory cortex. J Physiol 335, 427-447.
- Arnsten, A.F., Cai, J.X., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1988. The alpha-2 adrenergic agonist guanfacine improves memory in aged monkeys without sedative or hypotensive side effects: evidence for alpha-2 receptor subtypes. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 8, 4287-4298.
- Arnsten, A.F., Contant, T.A., 1992. Alpha-2 adrenergic agonists decrease distractibility in aged monkeys performing the delayed response task. Psychopharmacology 108, 159-169. Arnsten, A.F., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1985. Catecholamines and cognitive decline in aged nonhuman primates. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 444, 218-234.
- Arnsten, A.F., Jentsch, J.D., 1997. The alpha-1 adrenergic agonist, cirazoline, impairs spatial working memory performance in aged monkeys. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 58, 55-59.
- Arnsten, A.F.T., 2009a. Toward a new understanding of attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder pathophysiology: an important role for prefrontal cortex dysfunction. CNS Drugs 23 (Suppl 1),
- Arnsten, A.F.T., 2009b. Stress signalling pathways that impair prefrontal cortex structure and function. Nat. Rev. Neurosci.
- Arnsten, A.F.T., Jin, L.E., 2014. Molecular influences on working memory circuits in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 122, 211-231.
- Arnsten, A.F.T., Wang, M.J., Paspalas, C.D., 2012. Neuromodulation of thought: flexibilities and vulnerabilities in prefrontal cortical network synapses. Neuron 76, 223–239.
- Aston-Jones, G., 2005. Brain structures and receptors involved in alertness. Sleep Med. 6 (Suppl 1), S3-S7.
- Aston-Jones, G., Bloom, F.E., 1981. Norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats exhibit pronounced responses to non-noxious environmental stimuli. J. Neurosci. 1, 887-900.
- Aston-Jones, G., Chen, S., Zhu, Y., Oshinsky, M.L., 2001. A neural circuit for circadian regulation of arousal. Nat. Neurosci. 4,
- Aston-Jones, G., Cohen, J.D., 2005a. An integrative theory of locus coeruleus-norepinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 28, 403-450.
- Aston-Jones, G., Cohen, J.D., 2005b. Adaptive gain and the role of the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system in optimal performance. J. Comp. Neurol. 493, 99-110.
- Aston-Jones, G., Rajkowski, J., Kubiak, P., Akaoka, H., 1992. Acute morphine induces oscillatory discharge of noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurons in the waking monkey. Neurosci. Lett. 140, 219-224.

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

- Bari, A., Robbins, T.W., 2013a. Inhibition and impulsivity: behavioral and neural basis of response control. Prog. Neurobiol. 108, 44–79.
- Bari, A., Robbins, T.W., 2013b. Noradrenergic versus dopaminergic modulation of impulsivity, attention and monitoring behaviour in rats performing the stop-signal task: possible relevance to ADHD. Psychopharmacology 230, 89–111.
- Bear, M.F., Singer, W., 1986. Modulation of visual cortical plasticity by acetylcholine and noradrenaline. Nature 320, 172–176.
- Bennett, B.D., Huguenard, J.R., Prince, D.A., 1997. Adrenoceptormediated elevation of ambient GABA levels activates presynaptic GABA(B) receptors in rat sensorimotor cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 78, 561–566.
- Bennett, B.D., Huguenard, J.R., Prince, D.A., 1998. Adrenergic modulation of GABAA receptor-mediated inhibition in rat sensorimotor cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 79, 937–946.
- Berridge, C.W., Waterhouse, B.D., 2003. The locus coeruleusnoradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 42, 33–84.
- Bouret, S., Richmond, B.J., 2015. Sensitivity of locus ceruleus neurons to reward value for goal-directed actions. J. Neurosci. 35, 4005–4014.
- Bramham, C.R., Bacher-Svendsen, K., Sarvey, J.M., 1997. LTP in the lateral perforant path is beta-adrenergic receptor-dependent. Neuroreport 8, 719–724.
- Branchereau, P., Van Bockstaele, E.J., Chan, J., Pickel, V.M., 1996. Pyramidal neurons in rat prefrontal cortex show a complex synaptic response to single electrical stimulation of the locus coeruleus region: evidence for antidromic activation and GABAergic inhibition using in vivo intracellular recording and electron micr. Synapse 22, 313–331.
- Bröcher, S., Artola, A., Singer, W., 1992. Agonists of cholinergic and noradrenergic receptors facilitate synergistically the induction of long-term potentiation in slices of rat visual cortex. Brain Res. 573, 27–36.
- Brun, P., Suaud-Chagny, M.F., Gonon, F., Buda, M., 1993. Differential effects of desipramine on direct- and sensory-evoked noradrenaline release in thalamic locus coeruleus terminals. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 235, 205–210.
- Caetano, M.S., Jin, L.E., Harenberg, L., Stachenfeld, K.L., Arnsten, A.F.T., Laubach, M., 2012. Noradrenergic control of error perseveration in medial prefrontal cortex. Front. Integr. Neurosci. 6, 125.
- Carr, D.B., Andrews, G.D., Glen, W.B., Lavin, A., 2007. alpha2-Noradrenergic receptors activation enhances excitability and synaptic integration in rat prefrontal cortex pyramidal neurons via inhibition of HCN currents. J Physiol 584, 437–450.
- Chiti, Z., Teschemacher, A.G., 2007. Exocytosis of norepinephrine at axon varicosities and neuronal cell bodies in the rat brain. FASEB J. 21, 2540–2550.
- Chiu, K.-M., Lin, T.-Y., Lu, C.-W., Wang, S.-J., 2011. Inhibitory effect of glutamate release from rat cerebrocortical nerve terminals by $\alpha 2$ adrenoceptor agonist dexmedetomidine. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 670, 137–147.
- Choi, S.Y., Chang, J., Jiang, B., Seol, G.H., Min, S.S., Han, J.S., Shin, H.S., Gallagher, M., Kirkwood, A., 2005. Multiple receptors coupled to phospholipase C gate long-term depression in visual cortex. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 25, 11433–11443.
- Constantinople, C.M., Bruno, R.M., 2011. Effects and mechanisms of wakefulness on local cortical networks. Neuron 69, 1061–1068.
- Descarries, L., Droz, B., 1970. Intraneural distribution of exogenous norepinephrine in the central nervous system of the rat. J. Cell Biol. 44, 385–399.
- Devilbiss, D.M., Waterhouse, B.D., 2000. Norepinephrine exhibits two distinct profiles of action on sensory cortical neuron responses to excitatory synaptic stimuli. Synapse 37, 273–282.

- Devilbiss, D.M., Waterhouse, B.D., 2004. The effects of tonic locus ceruleus output on sensory-evoked responses of ventral posterior medial thalamic and barrel field cortical neurons in the awake rat. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 24, 10773–10785.
- Dinh, L., Nguyen, T., Salgado, H., Atzori, M., 2009. Norepinephrine Homogeneously Inhibits alpha-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate- (AMPAR-) mediated currents in all layers of the temporal cortex of the rat. Neurochem. Res. 34, 1896–1906.
- Doya, K., 2008. Modulators of decision making. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 410–416.
- Drouin, C., Wang, D., Waterhouse, B.D., 2007. Neurophysiological actions of methylphenidate in the primary somatosensory cortex. Synapse 61, 985–990.
- Eckhoff, P., Wong-Lin, K.F., Holmes, P., 2009. Optimality and robustness of a biophysical decision-making model under norepinephrine modulation. J. Neurosci. 29, 4301–4311.
- Edeline, J.M., 2012. Beyond traditional approaches to understanding the functional role of neuromodulators in sensory cortices. Front Behav Neurosci 6, 45.
- Edeline, J.-M., Manunta, Y., Hennevin, E., 2011. Induction of selective plasticity in the frequency tuning of auditory cortex and auditory thalamus neurons by locus coeruleus stimulation. Hear. Res. 274, 75–84.
- Ego-Stengel, V., Bringuier, V., Shulz, D.E., 2002. Noradrenergic modulation of functional selectivity in the cat visual cortex: an in vivo extracellular and intracellular study. Neuroscience 111, 275–289.
- Ferraro, G., Sardo, P., Sabatino, M., Caravaglios, G., La Grutta, V., 1994. Anticonvulsant activity of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus system: role of beta mediation. Neurosci. Lett. 169, 93–96.
- Foehring, R.C., Schwindt, P.C., Crill, W.E., 1989. Norepinephrine selectively reduces slow Ca2+- and Na+-mediated K+ currents in cat neocortical neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 61, 245–256.
- Foote, S.L., Freedman, R., Oliver, A.P., 1975. Effects of putative neurotransmitters on neuronal activity in monkey auditory cortex. Brain Res. 86, 229–242.
- Franowicz, J.S., Arnsten, A.F., 1998. The alpha-2a noradrenergic agonist, guanfacine, improves delayed response performance in young adult rhesus monkeys. Psychopharmacology 136, 8–14.
- Franowicz, J.S., Kessler, L.E., Borja, C.M., Kobilka, B.K., Limbird, L. E., Arnsten, A.F., 2002. Mutation of the alpha2A-adrenoceptor impairs working memory performance and annuls cognitive enhancement by guanfacine. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 22, 8771–8777.
- Freedman, R., Foote, S.L., Bloom, F.E., 1975. Histochemical characterization of a neocortical projection of the nucleus locus coeruleus in the squirrel monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 164, 209–231
- Frey, U., Huang, Y.Y., Kandel, E.R., 1993. Effects of cAMP simulate a late stage of LTP in hippocampal CA1 neurons. Science 260, 1661–1664.
- Gatter, K.C., Powell, T.P., 1977. The projection of the locus coeruleus upon the neocortex in the macaque monkey. Neuroscience 2, 441–445.
- Gibbs, M.E., Summers, R.J., 2000. Separate roles for beta2- and beta3-adrenoceptors in memory consolidation. Neuroscience 95, 913–922.
- Giorgi, F.S., Blandini, F., Cantafora, E., Biagioni, F., Armentero, M.-T., Pasquali, L., Orzi, F., Murri, L., Paparelli, A., Fornai, F., 2008. Activation of brain metabolism and fos during limbic seizures: the role of locus coeruleus. Neurobiol. Dis. 30, 388–399.

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

BRES: 44688

1432

1433

1434

1435

1436

1437

1438

1439

1440

1441

1442

1443

1444

1445

1446

1447

1448

1449

1450

1451

1452

1453

1454

1455

1456

1457

1458

1459

1460

1461

1462

1463

1464

1465

1466

1467

1468

1469

1470

1471

1472

1473

1474

1475

1476

1477

1478

1479

1480

1481

1482

1483

1484

1485

1486

1487

1488

- Gold, P.W., Chrousos, G.P., 2002. Organization of the stress system and its dysregulation in melancholic and atypical depression: high vs low CRH/NE states. Mol. Psychiatry 7, 254–275.
 - Grant, S.J., Aston-Jones, G., Redmond Jr., D.E., 1988. Responses of primate locus coeruleus neurons to simple and complex sensory stimuli. Brain Res. Bull. 21, 401–410.
 - Grefkes, C., Wang, L.E., Eickhoff, S.B., Fink, G.R., 2010. Noradrenergic modulation of cortical networks engaged in visuomotor processing. Cereb. Cortex 20, 783–797.
 - Hasselmo, M.E., Linster, C., Patil, M., Ma, D., Cekic, M., 1997. Noradrenergic suppression of synaptic transmission may influence cortical signal-to-noise ratio. J. Neurophysiol. 77, 3326–3339.
 - Havekes, R., Canton, D.A., Park, A.J., Huang, T., Nie, T., Day, J.P., Guercio, L.A., Grimes, Q., Luczak, V., Gelman, I.H., Baillie, G.S., Scott, J.D., Abel, T., 2012. Gravin orchestrates protein kinase A and β2-adrenergic receptor signaling critical for synaptic plasticity and memory. J. Neurosci. 32, 18137–18149.
 - Hofmeister, J., Sterpenich, V., 2015. A role for the locus ceruleus in reward processing: encoding behavioral energy required for goal-directed actions. J. Neurosci. 35, 10387–10389.
 - Hopkins, W.F., Johnston, D., 1984. Frequency-dependent noradrenergic modulation of long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Science 226, 350–352.
 - Hu, H., Real, E., Takamiya, K., Kang, M.G., Ledoux, J., Huganir, R.L., Malinow, R., 2007. Emotion enhances learning via norepinephrine regulation of AMPA-receptor trafficking. Cell 131, 160–173.
 - Huang, S., Trevino, M., He, K., Ardiles, A., de Pasquale, R., Guo, Y., Palacios, A., Huganir, R., Kirkwood, A., 2012. Pull-push neuromodulation of LTP and LTD enables bidirectional experience-induced synaptic scaling in visual cortex. Neuron 73, 497–510.
 - Hurley, L., Devilbiss, D., Waterhouse, B., 2004. A matter of focus: monoaminergic modulation of stimulus coding in mammalian sensory networks. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 14, 488–495.
 - Imamura, K., Kasamatsu, T., 1988. Acutely induced shift in ocular dominance during brief monocular exposure: effects of cortical noradrenaline infusion. Neurosci. Lett. 88, 57–62.
 - Izumi, Y., Zorumski, C.F., 1999. Norepinephrine promotes longterm potentiation in the adult rat hippocampus in vitro. Synapse 31, 196–202.
 - Ji, X.H., Cao, X.H., Zhang, C.L., Feng, Z.J., Zhang, X.H., Ma, L., Li, B. M., 2008. Pre- and postsynaptic beta-adrenergic activation enhances excitatory synaptic transmission in layer V/VI pyramidal neurons of the medial prefrontal cortex of rats. Cereb. Cortex 18, 1506–1520.
 - Ji, X.H., Ji, J.Z., Zhang, H., Li, B.M., 2008. Stimulation of alpha2adrenoceptors suppresses excitatory synaptic transmission in the medial prefrontal cortex of rat. Neuropsychopharmacol. Off. Publ. Am. Coll. Neuropsychopharmacol. 33, 2263–2271.
 - Jodo, E., Chiang, C., Aston-Jones, G., 1998. Potent excitatory influence of prefrontal cortex activity on noradrenergic locus coeruleus neurons. Neuroscience 83, 63–79.
 - Jones, B.E., Halaris, A.E., McIlhany, M., Moore, R.Y., 1977.
 Ascending projections of the locus coeruleus in the rat. I.
 Axonal transport in central noradrenaline neurons. Brain Res.
 127, 1–21.
 - Jones, B.E., Moore, R.Y., 1977. Ascending projections of the locus coeruleus in the rat. II. Autoradiographic study. Brain Res. 127, 25–53.
 - Kaneko, K., Tamamaki, N., Owada, H., Kakizaki, T., Kume, N., Totsuka, M., Yamamoto, T., Yawo, H., Yagi, T., Obata, K., Yanagawa, Y., 2008. Noradrenergic excitation of a subpopulation of GABAergic cells in the basolateral amygdala via both activation of nonselective cationic conductance and suppression of resting K+ conductance: a study using glutamate

decarboxylase 67-green fluorescent prote. Neuroscience 157, 781–797.

1489

1490

1491

1492

1493

1494

1495

1496

1497

1498

1499

1500

1501

1502

1503

1504

1505

1506

1507

1508

1509

1510

1511

1512

1513

1514

1515

1516

1517

1518

1519

1520

1521

1522

1523

1524

1525

1526

1527

1528

1529

1530

1531

1532

1533

1534

1535

1536

1537

1538

1539

1540

1541

1542

1543

1544

1545

1546

1547

1548

- Kasamatsu, T., Pettigrew, J.D., 1979. Preservation of binocularity after monocular deprivation in the striate cortex of kittens treated with 6-hydroxydopamine. J. Comp. Neurol. 185, 139–161.
- Kato, N., 1993. Mechanisms of beta-adrenergic facilitation of LTP in rat visual cortex. Neuroreport 4, 1087–1090.
- Kato, N., Artola, A., Singer, W., 1991. Developmental changes in the susceptibility to long-term potentiation of neurones in rat visual cortex slices. Brain Res. Dev. Brain Res. 60, 43–50.
- Katsuki, H., Izumi, Y., Zorumski, C.F., 1997. Noradrenergic regulation of synaptic plasticity in the hippocampal CA1 region. J. Neurophysiol. 77, 3013–3020.
- Kawaguchi, Y., Shindou, T., 1998. Noradrenergic excitation and inhibition of GABAergic cell types in rat frontal cortex. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 18, 6963–6976.
- Kirkwood, A., Rozas, C., Kirkwood, J., Perez, F., Bear, M.F., 1999. Modulation of long-term synaptic depression in visual cortex by acetylcholine and norepinephrine. J. Neurosci. 19, 1599–1609.
- Kobayashi, M., Imamura, K., Sugai, T., Onoda, N., Yamamoto, M., Komai, S., Watanabe, Y., 2000. Selective suppression of horizontal propagation in rat visual cortex by norepinephrine. Eur. J. Neurosci. 12, 264–272.
- Kossl, M., Vater, M., 1989. Noradrenaline enhances temporal auditory contrast and neuronal timing precision in the cochlear nucleus of the mustached bat. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 9, 4169–4178.
- Krnjevic, K., 1993. Central cholinergic mechanisms and function. Prog. Brain Res. 98, 285–292.
- Krnjević, K., Pumain, R., Renaud, L., 1971. The mechanism of excitation by acetylcholine in the cerebral cortex. J. Physiol. 215, 247–268.
- Laing, M., Bashir, Z.I., 2014. β -Adrenoceptors and synaptic plasticity in the perirhinal cortex. Neuroscience 273, 163–173.
- Law-Tho, D., Crepel, F., Hirsch, J.C., 1993. Noradrenaline decreases transmission of NMDA- and non-NMDA-receptor mediated monosynaptic EPSPs in rat prefrontal neurons in vitro. Eur. J. Neurosci. 5, 1494–1500.
- Lazzaro, S.C., Hou, M., Cunha, C., LeDoux, J.E., Cain, C.K., 2010. Antagonism of lateral amygdala alpha1-adrenergic receptors facilitates fear conditioning and long-term potentiation. Learn. Mem. 17, 489–493.
- Lee, H.K., Barbarosie, M., Kameyama, K., Bear, M.F., Huganir, R.L., 2000. Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. Nature 405, 955–959
- Lei, S., Deng, P.Y., Porter, J.E., Shin, H.S., 2007. Adrenergic facilitation of GABAergic transmission in rat entorhinal cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 98, 2868–2877.
- Lew, S.E., Tseng, K.Y., 2014. Dopamine modulation of GABAergic function enables network stability and input selectivity for sustaining working memory in a computational model of the prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 39, 3067–3076.
- Li, B.M., Mei, Z.T., 1994. Delayed-response deficit induced by local injection of the alpha 2-adrenergic antagonist yohimbine into the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in young adult monkeys. Behav. Neural. Biol. 62, 134–139.
- Liu, W., Yuen, E.Y., Allen, P.B., Feng, J., Greengard, P., Yan, Z., 2006. Adrenergic modulation of NMDA receptors in prefrontal cortex is differentially regulated by RGS proteins and spinophilin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 18338–18343.
- Madison, D.V., Nicoll, R.A., 1982. Noradrenaline blocks accommodation of pyramidal cell discharge in the hippocampus. Nature 299, 636–638.
- Malinow, R., Malenka, R.C., 2002. AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 25, 103–126.

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

1610

1611

1612

1613

1614

1615

1616

1617

1618

1619

1620

1621

1622

1623

1624

1625

1626

1627

1628

1629

1630

1631

1632

1633

1634

1635

1636

1637

1638

1639

1640

1641

1642

1643

1644

1645

1646

1647

1648

1649

1650

1651

1652

1653

1654

1655

1656

1657

1658

1659

1660

1661

1662

1663

1664

1665

1666

1667

1668

1585 1586 1587

1588

1589

1590

1591

1592

1605

1606

1607

1608

- Mandal, M., Marzouk, A.C., Donnelly, R., Ponzio, N.M., 2010. Preferential development of Th17 cells in offspring of immunostimulated pregnant mice. J. Reprod. Immunol. 87, 97-100.
- Manunta, Y., Edeline, J.M., 1998. Effects of noradrenaline on ratelevel function of auditory cortex neurons: is there a "gating" effect of noradrenaline? Exp Brain. Res. 118, 361-372.
- Manunta, Y., Edeline, J.M., 1999. Effects of noradrenaline on frequency tuning of auditory cortex neurons during wakefulness and slow-wave sleep. Eur. J. Neurosci. 11, 2134-2150.
- Manunta, Y., Edeline, J.M., 2004. Noradrenergic induction of selective plasticity in the frequency tuning of auditory cortex neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 92, 1445-1463.
- Martín, E.D., Araque, A., Buño, W., 2001. Synaptic regulation of the slow Ca2+-activated K+ current in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons: implication in epileptogenesis. J. Neurophysiol. 86, 2878-2886.
- Marzo, A., Bai, J., Caboche, J., Vanhoutte, P., Otani, S., 2010. Cellular mechanisms of long-term depression induced by noradrenaline in rat prefrontal neurons. Neuroscience 169,
- Mataga, N., Imamura, K., Watanabe, Y., 1992. L-threo-3,4-dihydroxyphenylserine enhanced ocular dominance plasticity in adult cats. Neurosci. Lett. 142, 115-118.
- McCormick, D.A., 1993. Actions of acetylcholine in the cerebral cortex and thalamus and implications for function. Prog. Brain Res. 98, 303-308.
- McCormick, D.A., Pape, H.C., Williamson, A., 1991. Actions of norepinephrine in the cerebral cortex and thalamus: implications for function of the central noradrenergic system. Prog. Brain Res. 88, 293-305.
- McCormick, D.A., Wang, Z., Huguenard, J., 1993. Neurotransmitter control of neocortical neuronal activity and excitability. Cereb. Cortex 3, 387-398.
- McGaugh, J.L., Ferry, B., A, V., & Roozendaal, B. (2000) Amygdala: role in modulation of memory storage. In: The Amygdala 2nd Edition A Functional Analysis, 2nd edn. Aggleton, J.P., New York, New York, pp. 391-423.
- Morrison, J.H., Foote, S.L., O'Connor, D., Bloom, F.E., 1982. Laminar, tangential and regional organization of the noradrenergic innervation of monkey cortex: dopamine-beta-hydroxylase immunohistochemistry. Brain Res. Bull. 9, 309-319.
- Muguruma, K., Matsumura, K., Watanabe, Y., Shiomitsu, T., Imamura, K., 1997. Effects of monocular enucleation on receptor binding and innervation pattern of the noradrenergic system in the superior colliculus of the pigmented rat. Neurosci. Res. 28, 311-324.
- Neuman, R.S., 1986. Suppression of penicillin-induced focal epileptiform activity by locus ceruleus stimulation: mediation by an alpha 1-adrenoceptor. Epilepsia 27, 359-366.
- Newman, L.A., Darling, J., McGaughy, J., 2008. Atomoxetine reverses attentional deficits produced by noradrenergic deafferentation of medial prefrontal cortex. Psychopharmacology 200, 39-50.
- Nowicky, A.V., Christofi, G., Bindman, L.J., 1992. Investigation of beta-adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission and postsynaptic induction of associative LTP in layer V neurones in slices of rat sensorimotor cortex. Neurosci. Lett. 137,
- O'Donnell, J., Zeppenfeld, D., McConnell, E., Pena, S., Nedergaard, M., 2012. Norepinephrine: a neuromodulator that boosts the function of multiple cell types to optimize CNS performance. Neurochem. Res. 37, 2496-2512.
- Papay, R., Gaivin, R., Jha, A., McCune, D.F., McGrath, J.C., Rodrigo, M.C., Simpson, P.C., Doze, V.A., Perez, D.M., 2006. Localization of the mouse alpha1A-adrenergic receptor (AR) in the brain: alpha1AAR is expressed in neurons, GABAergic interneurons, and NG2 oligodendrocyte progenitors. J. Comp. Neurol. 497,

- Paukert, M., Agarwal, A., Cha, J., Doze, V.A., Kang, J.U., Bergles, D.E., 2014. Norepinephrine controls astroglial responsiveness to local circuit activity. Neuron 82, 1263-1270.
- Pedarzani, P., Storm, J.F., 1995. Dopamine modulates the slow Ca (2+)-activated K+ current IAHP via cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase in hippocampal neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 74, 2749-2753
- Pelletier, M.R., Kirkby, R.D., Jones, S.J., Corcoran, M.E., 1994. Pathway specificity of noradrenergic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. Hippocampus 4, 181-188.
- Perugini, A., Laing, M., Berretta, N., Aicardi, G., Bashir, Z.I., 2012. Synaptic plasticity from amygdala to perirhinal cortex: a possible mechanism for emotional enhancement of visual recognition memory?. Eur. J. Neurosci. 36, 2421-2427.
- Pettigrew, J.D., Kasamatsu, T., 1978. Local perfusion of noradrenaline maintains visual cortical plasticity. Nature 271, 761-763
- Podkletnova, I., Mäkelä, R., Korpi, E.R., Lüddens, H., Helen, P., Alho, H., 2000. Neonatal 6-hydroxydopamine treatment affects GABA(A) receptor subunit expression in the frontal cortex but not the hippocampus of rats during postnatal development, Dev. Neurosci, 22, 296-302.
- Porrino, L.J., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1982. Brainstem innervation of prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in the rhesus monkey revealed by retrograde transport of HRP. J. Comp. Neurol. 205,
- Pussinen, R., Nieminen, S., Koivisto, E., Haapalinna, A., Riekkinen, P., Sirvio, J., 1997. Enhancement of intermediate-term memory by an alpha-1 agonist or a partial agonist at the glycine site of the NMDA receptor. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 67, 69-74.
- Puumala, T., Greijus, S., Narinen, K., Haapalinna, A., Riekkinen, P., Sirviö, J., 1998. Stimulation of alpha-1 adrenergic receptors facilitates spatial learning in rats. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 8, 17-26.
- Rajkowski, J., Kubiak, P., Aston-Jones, G., 1994. Locus coeruleus activity in monkey: phasic and tonic changes are associated with altered vigilance. Brain Res. Bull. 35, 607-616.
- Ramos, B.P., Arnsten, A.F., 2007. Adrenergic pharmacology and cognition: Focus on the prefrontal cortex. Pharmacol Ther.
- Riekkinen, M., Kemppainen, S., Riekkinen, P., 1997. Effects of stimulation of alpha 1-adrenergic and NMDA/glycine-B receptors on learning defects in aged rats. Psychopharmacology 131, 49-56.
- Robbins, T.W., Arnsten, A.F.T., 2009. The neuropsychopharmacology of fronto-executive function: monoaminergic modulation. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 32, 267-287.
- Robertson, S.D., Plummer, N.W., de Marchena, J., Jensen, P., 2013. Developmental origins of central norepinephrine neuron diversity. Nat. Neurosci. 16, 1016-1023.
- Roychowdhury, S., Zwierzchowski, A.N., Garcia-Oscos, F., Olguin, R.C., Delgado, R.S., Atzori, M., 2014. Layer- and area-specificity of the adrenergic modulation of synaptic transmission in the rat neocortex. Neurochem. Res. 39, 2377-2384.
- Salgado, H., Garcia-Oscos, F., Martinolich, L., Hall, S., Restom, R., Tseng, K.Y., Atzori, M., 2012. Pre- and postsynaptic effects of norepinephrine on gamma-aminobutyric acid-mediated synaptic transmission in layer 2/3 of the rat auditory cortex. Synapse 66, 20-28.
- Salgado, H., Garcia-Oscos, F., Patel, A., Martinolich, L., Nichols, J.A., Dinh, L., Roychowdhury, S., Tseng, K.Y., Atzori, M., 2011. Layer-specific noradrenergic modulation of inhibition in cortical layer II/III. Cereb. Cortex 21, 212-221.
- Salgado, H., Kohr, G., Trevino, M., 2012. Noradrenergic "tone" determines dichotomous control of cortical spike-timingdependent plasticity. Sci. Rep. 2.

Please cite this article as: Burgos, H.S., et al., Layer- and area-specific actions of norepinephrine on cortical synaptic transmission. Brain Research (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.033

1693

1694

1695

1696

1697

1698

1699

1700

1701

1702

1703

1704

1705

1706

1707

1708

1709

1710

1711

1712

1713

1714

1715

1716

1717

1718

1719

1720

1721

1722

1723

1724

1725

1726

1727

1728

1729

1730

1731

1732

1733

1734

1735

1736

1737

1738

1739

1740

1761 1762 1763

1764

1765

Sara, S.J., Hervé-Minvielle, A., 1995. Inhibitory influence of frontal cortex on locus coeruleus neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 6032-6036.

Scheiderer, C.L., Dobrunz, L.E., McMahon, L.L., 2004. Novel form of long-term synaptic depression in rat hippocampus induced by activation of alpha 1 adrenergic receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 91, 1071-1077.

- Segal, M., 1999. Serotonin and local circuits in rat hippocampus. J. Basic Clin. Physiol. Pharmacol. 1, 77-86.
- Seol, G.H., Ziburkus, J., Huang, S., Song, L., Kim, I.T., Takamiya, K., Huganir, R.L., Lee, H.K., Kirkwood, A., 2007. Neuromodulators control the polarity of spike-timing-dependent synaptic plasticity. Neuron 55, 919-929.
- Sessler, F.M., Liu, W., Kirifides, M.L., Mouradian, R.D., Lin, R.C., Waterhouse, B.D., 1995. Noradrenergic enhancement of GABAinduced input resistance changes in layer V regular spiking pyramidal neurons of rat somatosensory cortex. Brain Res. 675, 171-182.
- Shouse, M.N., Langer, J., Bier, M., Farber, P.R., Alcalde, O., Moghimi, R., Richkind, M., Szymusiak, R., 1996. The alpha 2 adrenoreceptor agonist clonidine suppresses seizures, whereas the alpha 2 adrenoreceptor antagonist idazoxan promotes seizures: pontine microinfusion studies of amygdala-kindled kittens. Brain Res. 731, 203-207.
- Silvetti, M., Seurinck, R., van Bochove, M.E., Verguts, T., 2013. The influence of the noradrenergic system on optimal control of neural plasticity. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 7, 160.
- Simpson, K.L., S, L.R.C., 2007. Neuroanatomical and chemical organization of the Locus Cerouleus. In: Ordway, G.A., Schwarts, M.A., Frazer, A. (Eds.), Brain Norepinephrine. Cambridge University Press, New York, New York, pp. 9-52.
- Stanton, P.K., Sarvey, J.M., 1985. Depletion of norepinephrine, but not serotonin, reduces long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus of rat hippocampal slices. J. Neurosci. 5, 2169-2176.
- Stanton, P.K., Sarvey, J.M., 1987. Norepinephrine regulates longterm potentiation of both the population spike and dendritic EPSP in hippocampal dentate gyrus. Brain Res. Bull. 18,
- Sterley, T.-L., Howells, F.M., Russell, V.A., 2013. Maternal separation increases GABA(A) receptor-mediated modulation of norepinephrine release in the hippocampus of a rat model of ADHD, the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Brain Res. 1497, 23-31.
- Thomas, M.J., Moody, T.D., Makhinson, M., O'Dell, T.J., 1996. Activity-dependent beta-adrenergic modulation of low frequency stimulation induced LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region. Neuron 17, 475-482.
- Timmons, S.D., Geisert, E., Stewart, A.E., Lorenzon, N.M., Foehring, R.C., 2004. alpha2-Adrenergic receptor-mediated modulation of calcium current in neocortical pyramidal neurons. Brain Res. 1014, 184-196.
- Treviño, M., Frey, S., Köhr, G., 2012. Alpha-1 adrenergic receptors gate rapid orientation-specific reduction in visual discrimination. Cereb. Cortex 22, 2529-2541.

- Usher, M., Cohen, J.D., Servan-Schreiber, D., Rajkowski, J., Aston-Jones, G., 1999. The role of locus coeruleus in the regulation of cognitive performance. Science 283, 549-554.
- van Veldhuizen, M.J., Feenstra, M.G., Boer, G.J., 1994. Regional differences in the in vivo regulation of the extracellular levels of noradrenaline and its metabolites in rat brain. Brain Res. 635, 238-248,
- Vazey, E.M., Aston-Jones, G., 2014. Designer receptor manipulations reveal a role of the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system in isoflurane general anesthesia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 3859-3864.
- Wang, H.-X., Waterhouse, B.D., Gao, W.-J., 2013. Selective suppression of excitatory synapses on GABAergic interneurons by norepinephrine in juvenile rat prefrontal cortical microcircuitry. Neuroscience 246, 312-328.
- Wang, M., Gamo, N.J., Yang, Y., Jin, L.E., Wang, X.-J., Laubach, M., Mazer, J.A., Lee, D., Arnsten, A.F.T., 2011. Neuronal basis of age-related working memory decline. Nature 476, 210-213.
- Waterhouse, B.D., Lin, C.S., Burne, R.A., Woodward, D.J., 1983. The distribution of neocortical projection neurons in the locus coeruleus. J. Comp. Neurol. 217, 418-431.
- Waterhouse, B.D., Moises, H.C., Woodward, D.J., 1980. Noradrenergic modulation of somatosensory cortical neuronal responses to iontophoretically applied putative neurotransmitters. Exp. Neurol. 69, 30-49.
- Waterhouse, B.D., Moises, H.C., Woodward, D.J., 1998. Phasic activation of the locus coeruleus enhances responses of primary sensory cortical neurons to peripheral receptive field stimulation. Brain Res. 790, 33-44.
- Witkin, J.M., Marek, G.J., Johnson, B.G., Schoepp, D.D., 2007. Metabotropic glutamate receptors in the control of mood disorders. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 6, 87-100.
- Xiao, Z., Deng, P.-Y., Rojanathammanee, L., Yang, C., Grisanti, L., Permpoonputtana, K., Weinshenker, D., Doze, V.A., Porter, J.E., Lei, S., 2009. Noradrenergic depression of neuronal excitability in the entorhinal cortex via activation of TREK-2 K+ channels. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 10980-10991.
- Young, R., Rothman, R.B., Rangisetty, J.B., Partilla, J.S., Dukat, M., Glennon, R.A., 2006. TDIQ (5,6,7,8-tetrahydro-1,3-dioxolo[4,5glisoquinoline) inhibits the consumption of "snacks" in mice. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 84, 74-83.
- Yuen, E.Y., Qin, L., Wei, J., Liu, W., Liu, A., Yan, Z., 2014. Synergistic regulation of glutamatergic transmission by serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors in prefrontal cortical neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 25177-25185.
- Zhou, H.-C., Sun, Y.-Y., Cai, W., He, X.-T., Yi, F., Li, B.-M., Zhang, X.-H., 2013. Activation of β2-adrenoceptor enhances synaptic potentiation and behavioral memory via cAMP-PKA signaling in the medial prefrontal cortex of rats. Learn. Mem 20, 274-284.